IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THOMAS A	DAMS,	:	
	Petitioner,	:	
v.		:	
STATE OF	FLORIDA,	:	
	Respondent.	:	
		/	

CASE NO. SC00-663

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

P. DOUGLAS BRINKMEYER Assistant Public Defender Second Judicial Circuit Fla. Bar No. 197890 301 S. Monroe, Suite 401 Tallahassee, FL 32301 (850) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This case is before the Court on a certified question of great public importance. Jurisdiction arises under Art. V, §3(b)(4), Fla. Const., and Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(v). The issues are the constitutionality of §775.082(8), Fla. Stat. (1997), the Prison Releasee Reoffender [PRR] Act, and whether the trial court possessed and properly exercised that sentencing discretion.

A one-volume record on appeal will be referred to as "I R," followed by the appropriate page number in parentheses. This brief is printed in 12 point Courier New Font and submitted on a disk. Attached hereto as an appendix is the opinion of the lower tribunal, which has been reported as <u>Adams v. State</u>, 25 Fla. L. Weekly D758 (Fla. 1st DCA Mar. 23, 2000).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

By information filed August 31, 1998, petitioner was charged

with felony battery (I R 6-7). On September 24, 1998, petitioner filed a motion to declare the prison release reoffender statute unconstitutional (I R 9-35). On that date, the motion was denied (I R 36; 57-59). Petitioner entered a plea to the charge and reserved the right to appeal the denial of the motion (I R 37-38; 60-62). He did not contest his prior convictions, or that he was released from prison on December 31, 1996 (I R 57-58).

Petitioner was adjudicated guilty and sentenced to five years as a prison releasee reoffender, and credit for 119 days time served was granted (I R 39-45; 63). The sentencing guidelines scoresheet called for a discretionary 13.3 month state prison sentence (I R 45). On December 9, 1998, a timely notice of appeal was filed (I R 50). The Public Defender of the Second Judicial Circuit was later designated to represent him.

On appeal, the First District issued an opinion rejecting petitioner's challenges to the Prison Releasee Reoffender Act based on separation of powers, the single-subject rule, cruel and unusual punishment, vagueness, due process, equal protection, and ex post facto application. The district court certified the same question of public importance as in <u>Woods v.</u> <u>State</u>, 740 So. 2d 20 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999), *rev. granted*, 740 So. 2d 529 (Fla. 1999); <u>Turner v. State</u>, 745 So. 2d 351 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999), *rev. pending*, Fla. S.Ct. No. 96,631; <u>Chambers v.</u> <u>State</u>, 25 Fla. L. Weekly D387 (Fla. 1st DCA Feb. 11, 2000), *rev.*

pending, Fla. S.Ct. No. SC00-416; and many other cases. Appendix.

Notice of Discretionary Review was timely filed.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

I. The PRR Act violates the separation of governmental powers commanded by Art. II, §3, Fla. Const. In granting the power to apply the enhanced sentencing provisions to prosecutors, and through prosecutors to victims of crime, the Legislature has usurped the power to impose criminal sentences constitutionally vested in the judiciary. The Act also offends constitutional protections against legislative logrolling, against cruel and/or unusual punishment, against impermissibly vague legislation, against ex post facto application of the law, and to due process and equal protection of the law. However, if this court determines that the trial court retains discretion to impose a sentence under the subsection on those who qualify, the Act may withstand constitutional scrutiny.

II. If the court finds that sentencing under the Act is within the discretion of the trial court, then petitioner's sentence should be vacated and the case remanded for the trial court to exercise that discretion. The Second and Fourth Districts have held that the PRR Act is not mandatory. The parties and the sentencing judge in the instant case believed the Act was mandatory.

ARGUMENT

I. AS CONSTRUED IN <u>WOODS V. STATE</u>, THE ORIGINAL PRR ACT DELEGATES JUDICIAL

SENTENCING POWER TO THE STATE ATTORNEY, IN VIOLATION OF THE SEPARATION OF POWERS CLAUSE OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION, AND ALSO VIOLATES SEVERAL OTHER CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS.

THE CERTIFIED QUESTION

Florida's Constitution, Art. II, §3, divides the powers of state government into legislative, executive, and judicial branches and says that "No person belonging to one branch shall exercise any powers appertaining to either of the other branches unless expressly provided herein". The original PRR Act, as interpreted by the district court in <u>Woods</u>, violates that provision because it delegates legislative authority to establish penalties for crimes and judicial authority to impose sentences to the state attorney as an official of the executive branch.

The Act (now amended and designated as §775.082(9), Fla. Stat. (1999)) included in its original text the following relevant portions:

reoffender. Upon proof from the state attorney that establishes by a preponderance of the evidence that a defendant is a prison releasee reoffender as defined in this section, such defendant is not eligible for sentencing under the sentencing guidelines and must be sentenced as follows:

[mandatory terms depending on degree of felony] (Emphasis added).

The following portion of the Act describes the criteria for

exempting persons from the otherwise mandatory sentence:

(d)1. It is the intent of the Legislature that offenders previously released from prison who meet the criteria in paragraph (a) be punished to the fullest extent of the law and as provided in this subsection, unless any of the following circumstances exist:

a. The prosecuting attorney does not have sufficient evidence to prove the highest charge available;

b. The testimony of a material witness cannot be obtained;

<u>c. The victim does not want the</u> <u>offender to receive the mandatory prison</u> <u>sentence and provides a written statement to</u> <u>that effect; or</u>

<u>d. Other extenuating circumstances</u> <u>exist which preclude the just prosecution of</u> <u>the offender</u>. (Emphasis added).

The state attorney has the discretion (may seek) to invoke the sentencing sanctions by evaluating subjective criteria; if sought by the prosecutor, the court is required to (must) impose the maximum sentence. The rejection of statutory exceptions by the prosecutor divests the trial judge of any sentencing discretion. This unique delegation of discretion to the executive branch displacing the sentencing power inherently vested in the judicial branch conflicts with separation of powers because, as will be shown, when <u>sentencing</u> discretion is statutorily authorized, the judiciary must have at least a share of that discretion.

The Act was upheld against a separation of powers challenge in <u>Woods</u> because "Decisions whether and how to prosecute one accused of a crime and whether to seek enhanced punishment pursuant to law rest within the sphere of responsibility relegated to the executive, and the state attorneys possess complete discretion with regard thereto."

Since Florida's constitution expressly limits persons belonging to one branch from exercising any powers of another branch, see <u>Askew v. Cross Key Waterways</u>, 372 So. 2d 913, 924 (Fla. 1978), the question certified first requires interpretation of what powers the Act allocates or denies to which branch.

The <u>Woods</u> court found no ambiguity requiring interpretation, saying "the legislature's rather clearly expressed intent was to remove substantially all sentencing discretion from trial judges in cases where the prosecutor elects to seek enhanced sentencing pursuant to the Act and proves the defendant's eligibility." Further, the district court held that the discretion afforded by subparagraph (8)(d)1. "was intended to extend only to the prosecutor, and not to the

trial court." Ibid.

The power at issue is choosing among sentencing options. The district court acknowledged that in Florida "the plenary power to prescribe the punishment for criminal offenses lies with the legislature, not the courts." *Ibid*. That analysis is accurate but incomplete, because the legislature's plenary power to <u>prescribe</u> punishment disables not only the courts, but the executive as well. Therein lies the flaw in the Act.

To clarify the argument here, it is not that the legislature is prohibited from enacting a mandatory or minimum mandatory sentence. Rather the argument is that the legislature cannot delegate to the state attorney, through vague standards, the discretion to choose <u>both the charge and the penalty</u> and thereby prohibit the court from performing its inherent judicial function of imposing sentence.

Obviously the legislature may lawfully enact mandatory sentences. E.g., <u>Owens v. State</u>, 316 So. 2d 537 (Fla. 1975) (Upholding minimum mandatory 25 year sentence for capital felony); <u>State v. Sesler</u>, 386 So. 2d 293 (Fla. 2d DCA 1980) (Legislature was authorized to enact 3 year mandatory minimum for possession of firearm).

By the same token, there is no dispute that the state attorney enjoys virtually unlimited discretion to make charging decisions. <u>State v. Bloom</u>, 497 So. 2d 2 (Fla. 1986) (Under Art.

II, §3, Fla. Const., the decision to charge and prosecute is an executive responsibility; a court has no authority to hold pretrial that a capital case does not qualify for the death penalty); <u>Young v. State</u>, 699 So. 2d 624 (Fla. 1997) ("[T]he decision to prosecute a defendant as an habitual offender is a prosecutorial function to be initiated at the prosecutor's discretion and not by the court."); <u>State v. Jogan</u>, 388 So. 2d 322 (Fla. 3d DCA 1980) (The decision to prosecute or nolle pros pre-trial is vested solely in the state attorney).

The power to impose sentence belongs to the judicial branch. "[J]udges have traditionally had the discretion to impose any sentences within the maximum or minimum limits prescribed by the legislature." <u>Smith v. State</u>, 537 So. 2d 982, 985, 986 (Fla. 1989). Directly or by implication, Florida courts have held that sentencing discretion within limits set by law is a judicial function that cannot be wholly delegated to the executive branch.

In <u>State v. Benitez</u>, 395 So. 2d 514 (Fla. 1981), this Court reviewed a drug trafficking statute providing severe mandatory minimum sentences but with an escape valve permitting the court to reduce or suspend a sentence if the state attorney initiated a request for leniency based on the defendant's cooperation with law enforcement. The defendants contended that the law "usurps the sentencing function from the judiciary and assigns it to the

executive branch, since [its] benefits ... are triggered by the initiative of the state attorney." *Id.* at 519. Rejecting that argument and finding the statute did not encroach on judicial power this Court relied on the fact that the ultimate sentencing decision was still in the hands of the judge.

This Court assumed, therefore, that had the statute divested the court of the "final discretion" to impose sentence it would have violated separation of powers, an implicit recognition that sentencing is an inherent function of the courts.

This Court made an identical assumption when the habitual offender law was attacked on separation of powers grounds in <u>Seabrook v. State</u>, 629 So. 2d 129, 130 (Fla. 1993), saying that the trial judge had the discretion not to sentence a defendant as a habitual felony offender.

The Third DCA held the same view regarding the mandatory sentencing provisions of the violent career criminal act, saying that it did not violate separation of powers because the trial judge retained discretion to find that such sentencing was not necessary for protection of the public. <u>State v. Meyers</u>, 708 So. 2d 661 (Fla. 3d DCA 1998). In the same vein, the First DCA said in <u>London v. State</u>, 623 So. 2d 527, 528 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993), that "[a]lthough the state attorney may suggest that a defendant be classified as a habitual offender, only the judiciary decides whether to classify and sentence the defendant as a habitual

offender."

The foundation for judicial, as opposed to executive, discretion in sentencing was well described by Justice Scalia, albeit in a dissenting opinion:

Trial judges could be given the power to determine what factors justify a greater or lesser sentence within the statutorily prescribed limits because that was ancillary to their exercise of the judicial power of pronouncing sentence upon individual defendants. (Emphasis added).

<u>Mistretta v. United States</u>, 488 U.S. 361, 417-418 (1989) (Scalia, J., dissenting).

By passing the Act the legislature crossed the line dividing the executive from the judiciary. By virtue of the discretion improperly given to the state attorney, the courts are left without a voice at sentencing. This court is authorized to remedy that exclusion.

In <u>Walker v. Bentley</u>, 678 So. 2d 1265 (Fla. 1996), this Court nullified legislation that took away the circuit court's power to punish indirect criminal contempt involving domestic violence injunctions. In language which applies here the court said that any legislation which "purports to do away with the inherent power of contempt directly affects a separate and distinct function of the judicial branch, and, as such, violates the separation of powers doctrine...." *Id.* at 1267. Sentencing, like contempt, is a "separate and district function of the judicial branch" and should be accorded the same protection.

Authority to perform judicial functions cannot be delegated. <u>In re Alkire's Estate</u>, 198 So. 475, 482, 144 Fla. 606, 623, (1940). More specifically, the legislature has no authority to delegate to the executive branch an inherent judicial power. *Accord*, <u>Gough v. State ex rel. Sauls</u>, 55 So. 2d 111, 116 (Fla. 1951) (The legislature was without authority to confer on the Avon Park City Council the judicial power to determine the legality or validity of votes cast in a municipal election).

Applying that principle here, as construed in <u>Woods</u>, the Act wrongly assigns to the state attorney the sole authority to make factual findings regarding exemptions which thereafter deprive a court of sentencing discretion. Stated differently, the legislature exceeded its authority by giving the executive branch exclusive control of decisions inherent in the judicial branch.

According to <u>Woods</u>, the Act limits the trial court to a ministerial determination whether a qualifying substantive law has been violated (after trial or plea) and whether the offense was committed within 3 years of release from a state correctional institution. Beyond that, the Act is said to bind the court to the choice made by the state attorney. While the legislature could have imposed a mandatory prison term, as it did with firearms or capital felonies, or left the final

decision to the court, as with habitual offender and career criminal laws, the Act unconstitutionally gave the state attorney the special discretion to strip the court of its inherent power to sentence. That feature, as far as petitioner has discovered, distinguishes the Act from all other sentencing schemes in Florida. Accord, Lookadoo v. State, 737 So. 2d 637, 638 (Fla. 5th DCA 1999)(Sharp, J., dissenting).

Interestingly, the preamble to the Act² gives no hint of exceptions and seemingly portends mandatory sentences for all releasee offenders:

WHEREAS, the Legislature finds that the best deterrent to prevent prison releasees from committing future crimes is to require that <u>any releasee who</u> <u>commits new serious felonies must be sentenced to the</u> <u>maximum term of incarceration allowed by law, and must</u> <u>serve 100 percent of the court-imposed sentence</u> (Emphasis added.)

The text of the Act, however, transfers the punishing power to the prosecutor who is able to select both the charge and the sentence. The Act properly allows the prosecutor to decide what charge to file but goes further by granting the prosecutor additional authority; to require the judge to impose a fixed sentence regardless of exceptions provided in the law because only the prosecutor may determine if those exceptions should be applied.

The double discretion given the prosecutor to choose both

 $^{^{2}}$ Ch. 97-239, Laws of Fla.

the offense and the sentence while removing any sentencing discretion from the court is novel. This Court in <u>Young v.</u> <u>State</u>, *supra*, emphasized that charging and sentencing are separate powers pertaining to separate branches and by analogy applies here to prohibit the prosecutor from exercising both of those powers.

But in contrast with Florida's traditional demarcation of executive and judicial spheres, by empowering only the prosecutor to apply vague exceptions and thereby oust the judge from the adjudicatory role, the legislature (1) defaulted on its non-delegable obligation to determine the punishment for crimes, (2) delegated that duty to the prosecutor (executive branch) without intelligible standards, and (3) deprived the judiciary of its traditional power to determine sentences when discretion is allowed. These options fuse in the executive branch both the legislative and judicial powers, violating separation of powers.

By comparison, other sentencing schemes either (1) legislatively fix a mandatory penalty, such as life for sexual battery on a child less than 12, or 3 years mandatory for possessing a firearm, (2) allow the prosecutor to file a notice of enhancement, such as habitual offender, while recognizing the court's discretion to find that such sentence is not necessary for the protection of the public, or (3) afford the court a wider range of options, such as determining the sentence within guidelines,

or even departing from them based on sufficient reasons.

In the first example, the prosecutor's decision to charge the offense requires the court, upon conviction, to impose the legislatively mandated sentence. The prosecutor simply exercises the discretion inherent in making charging decisions and is legislatively limited only by the elements of the offense. The prosecutor does not, however, have any special discretion regarding the sentence because it has been determined by the legislature. The court's sentencing authority is not abrogated; the sentence is the result of legislative, not executive, action.

In the second example, the prosecutor is given discretion to influence the sentence perhaps more overtly by seeking enhanced penalties under various recidivist laws such as habitual [or habitual violent] offender and career criminal acts. That discretion does not interfere with the judicial power, because the court retains the ultimate sentencing decision. This court said retention of that final sentencing authority made it possible to uphold those laws against separation of powers challenges, implying that without such authority separation of powers would be violated. *E.g.*, <u>State</u> <u>v. Benitez</u>, *supra*, 395 So. 2d at 519; <u>Seabrook v. State</u>, *supra*, 629 So. 2d at 130.

In the third example the court enjoys a broader range of

sentencing options provided by the legislature under the sentencing guidelines or the Criminal Punishment Code. The prosecutor again influences the sentencing decision by choosing the charges and by advocating in open court for a particular sentence. But no special prosecutorial discretion exists beyond what is inherent in making the charging decisions and the court ultimately determines the sentence.

Unlike and beyond any of the foregoing methods, the Act bestows on the executive the power to determine both the charge and the sentence. While that may appear indistinguishable from the discretion allowed under the first example, there is a significant difference. A true mandatory sentence flows from the prosecutor's inherent discretion to select the charge, coupled with the legislature's fixing of the penalty. But the Act allows the executive to jump the fence into the court's yard by evaluating and deciding enumerated factors, including the wishes of the victim and undefined extenuating circumstances, before filing or withholding a notice; either decision binds the court. Thus it is not just that the conviction for a specie of crime results in an automatic sentence; it is the conviction plus a notice which the prosecutor has discretion to file that determines the sentence, to the exclusion of any say-so by the judiciary.

Unlike mandatory sentences, moreover, not every person

convicted of a qualifying offense will receive the Act's mandatory sentence. Only when the prosecutor exercises the discretion to file a notice will a given offense qualify for mandatory sentencing. That means neither the legislature nor the courts have the sentencing power. It is in the hands of the prosecutor who can wield both the executive branch authority of deciding on the charges and the legislative/judicial authority of directly determining the sentence.

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