IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THOMAS ADAMS,

Petitioner,

CASE NO. SC00-663

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JAMES W. ROGERS
TALLAHASSEE BUREAU CHIEF,
CRIMINAL APPEALS
FLORIDA BAR NO. 325791

CHARMAINE M. MILLSAPS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0989134

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Respondent, the State of Florida, will be referred to as Respondent or the State. Petitioner, THOMAS ADAMS, will be referred to as Petitioner or by proper name. Pursuant to Rule 9.210(b), Fla. R. App. P. (1997), this brief will refer to the volume number followed by the appropriate page number. "IB" will refer to Petitioner's Initial Brief. All double underlined emphasis is supplied.

CERTIFICATE OF FONT AND TYPE SIZE

Counsel certifies that this brief was typed using Courier New 12.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The State agrees with petitioner's statement of the case and facts.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

Petitioner argues the prison releasee reoffender statute violates separation of powers principles because it improperly delegates sentencing to the prosecutor rather than the judiciary. Petitioner claims that when a statute allows for sentencing discretion, that discretion must be shared. The State respectfully This Court has already held that the trafficking statute, which is a sentencing statute that operates in the same manner as the prison releasee reoffender statute, does not violate Both the trafficking statute and the separation of powers. reoffender statute set rigorous minimum mandatory penalties. trial court must impose these mandatory penalties under either statute. However, both statutes then allow the prosecutor and only the prosecutor to move for leniency. Under both statutes, if the prosecutor makes a motion, it is the trial court that determines the actual sentence. Quite simply, this Court's prior holding in <u>State v. Benitez</u>, 395 So.2d 514, 519 (Fla. 1981), controls. this Court explained in <u>Benitez</u>, as long as the judiciary retains the final decision regarding sentencing, a statute does not violate separation of powers. The final determination of a defendant's sentence is the trial court's, not the prosecutor under the prison releasee reoffender statute. While the prosecutor may seek reoffender sanctions and the trial court must impose such sanctions when sought, if the prosecutor does not seek such sanctions, it is the trial court that decides what the actual sentence will be.

prosecutor is merely a gatekeeper to the trial court's discretion. Thus, contrary to petitioner's claim, the sentencing discretion in the prison releasee reoffender statute is shared. Both the trial court and prosecutor share discretion. Petitioner's reliance on State v. Cotton, 728 So.2d 251 (Fla. 2d DCA 1999), review granted, No. 94,996 (Fla. June 11, 1998), is seriously misplaced. Cotton has been superseded by an amendment to the prison releasee reoffender statute. Hence, the prison releasee reoffender statute does not violate the separation of powers clause of the Florida Constitution.

Petitioner argues that the Prison Releasee Reoffender Act violate the single subject provision of the Florida Constitution. The State respectfully disagrees. Every District Court that has considered a single subject challenge to the prison releasee reoffender Act has rejected such a challenge. The First District reasoned that the Prison Releasee Reoffender Act does not violate the single subject provision because all sections of the Act deal with reoffenders. Chambers v. State, case No. 1D99-1928 (Fla. 1st DCA February 11, 2000), citing and quoting, <u>Jackson v. State</u>, 744 So. 2d 466 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999), review granted, No. 96,308; <u>Turner</u> v. State, 745 So. 2d 351 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999)(finding without merit the argument that the Act violates the single subject requirement of the Florida Constitution and observing that the references in the preamble to "violent felony offenders" do not reflect an intent to "reach only those defendants with a prior record of violent offenses."). The Second and Fourth Districts have also rejected this constitutional challenge. <u>Grant v. State</u>, 745 So. 2d 519 (Fla. 2d DCA 1999); <u>Young v. State</u>, 719 So. 2d 1010 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998), review denied, 727 So. 2d 915 (Fla. 1999) (concluding that because each section dealt in some fashion with reoffenders, that the Act does not violate the single subject requirement).

Petitioner argues that the prison releasee reoffender statute violates the cruel and unusual provision of Florida's Constitution because it does not impose strict proportionality in sentencing. The State respectfully disagrees. The Eighth Amendment does not require strict proportionality in sentencing. Only "extreme" sentences that are "grossly" disproportionate to the crime are subject cruel and unusual punishment challenges. Because the prison releasee reoffender statute involves certain limited enumerated felonies which are serious crimes no successful cruel and unusual punishment challenge is possible. The First District, relying on this Court's decision in <u>Jones v. State</u>, 701 So.2d 76, 79 (Fla.1997), rejected a cruel and unusual punishment challenge reasoning that imposition of a statutory maximum is not cruel or unusual punishment because there is no possibility that the Act inflicts torture or a lingering death or the infliction of unnecessary and wanton pain. Turner v. State, 745 So.2d 351 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999). See also Grant v. State, 745 So. 2d 519 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1999).

Petitioner also claims that the Act is void for vagueness under the United States and Florida Constitutions. The First District has rejected a vagueness challenge to the statute as have other district courts. In <u>Woods v. State</u>, 740 So.2d 20 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999)(rejecting this challenge because "one to whose conduct a statute clearly applies may not challenge it for vagueness"); <u>Crump v. State</u>, 746 So.2d 558 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999)(holding that the Prison Releasee Reoffender Punishment Act is not unconstitutionally vague under the due process clause despite the legislature's failure to define the terms "sufficient evidence," "material witness," the degree of materiality required, "extenuating circumstances," and "just prosecution" because the defendant has failed to identify how the plain language of the statute renders it impossible for a person of ordinary intelligence to read and understand the statute).

Petitioner argues that the statute denies due process of law by giving the victim a "veto power" over imposing such sanctions. The State respectfully disagrees. The statute does not give the victim the power to decide whether prison releasee reoffender sanction will be sought. That power is the prosecutor's, not the victim's. Turner v. State, 745 So.2d 351 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999)(holding the Act does not deny due process of law because it does not, in fact, give the victim "veto" power). A prosecutor may still seek prison releasee reoffender sanctions even if the victim requests that such sanction not be imposed. The legislature recently amended the exceptions provision of the statute. Ch. 99-188, Law of Fla.; CS/HB 121. Thus, the legislature has made it clear that the victims be merely "recommends" but it is the prosecutor that makes the actual decision.

Petitioner next argues that the Act violates equal protection by allowing the prosecutor to treat defendants with the same record differently. The guarantee of equal protection is not violated when prosecutors are given the discretion to seek enhanced sentencing for only some of those criminals who are eliqible. Woods v. State, 740 So.2d 20 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999). Selective application of a statute is permissible; only where persons are being selected according to some unjustified standard, such as race, religion, or other arbitrary classification, would it raise a potentially viable challenge. See also Rollinson v. State, 743 So. 2d 585 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999)(concluding that classification and increased punishment for prison releasee reoffenders is rationally related to the legitimate state interests of punishing recidivists more severely and limiting the Act's application to certain enumerated felonies that are committed within three years of prison release is not irrational).

As to the ex post facto challenge, petitioner argues that the statute is being retroactively applied to him because he was released prior to the enactment of the statute. However, Petitioner's release date is irrelevant. The relevant dates are the effective date of the statute and the date the offense was committed. The statute was in effect on the date petitioner committed the instant offense and therefore, the statute is not being retroactively applied to Petitioner.

ISSUE II

Petitioner argues that the trial court failed to exercise its discretion to decline to sentence petitioner as a prison releasee reoffender. The State respectfully disagrees. The trial court has no discretion. Petitioner's reliance on <u>State v. Cotton</u>, 728 So.2d 251 (Fla. 2d DCA 1998), review granted, No. 94,996 (Fla. June 11, 1999), is seriously misplaced. <u>Cotton</u> has been superseded by a clarifying amendment to the statute.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

DID LEGISLATURE IMPROPERLY DELEGATE SENTENCING DISCRETION TO THE PROSECUTOR BY ENACTING THE PRISON RELEASEE REOFFENDER STATUTE, § 775.082(8)? (Restated)

Petitioner argues the prison releasee reoffender statute violates separation of powers principles because it improperly delegates sentencing to the prosecutor rather than the judiciary. Petitioner claims that when a statute allows for sentencing discretion, that discretion must be shared. The State respectfully This Court has already held that the trafficking disagrees. statute, which is a sentencing statute that operates in the same manner as the prison releasee reoffender statute, does not violate separation of powers. Both the trafficking statute and the reoffender statute set rigorous minimum mandatory penalties. trial court must impose these mandatory penalties under either statute. However, both statutes then allow the prosecutor, and only the prosecutor, to move for leniency. Under both statutes, if the prosecutor makes a motion, it is the trial court that determines the actual sentence. Quite simply, this Court's prior holding in State v. Benitez, 395 So.2d 514, 519 (Fla. 1981), controls. As this Court explained in Benitez, as long as the judiciary retains the final decision regarding sentencing, a statute does not violate separation of powers. The final determination of a defendant's actual sentence is the trial court's, not the prosecutor's under the prison releasee reoffender statute. While the prosecutor may seek reoffender sanctions and the trial court must impose such sanctions when sought, if the prosecutor does not seek such sanctions, it is the trial court that decides what the actual sentence will be. The prosecutor is merely a gatekeeper to the trial court's discretion. Thus, contrary to petitioner's claim, the sentencing discretion in the prison releasee reoffender statute is shared. Both the trial court and prosecutor share discretion. Hence, the prison releasee reoffender statute does not violate the separation of powers clause of the Florida Constitution.

Presumption of Constitutionality

There is a strong presumption of constitutionality afforded to legislative acts under which courts resolve every reasonable doubt in favor of the constitutionality of the statute. See <u>State v. Kinner</u>, 398 So.2d 1360, 1363 (Fla. 1981); <u>Florida League of Cities, Inc. v. Administration Com'n</u>, 586 So.2d 397, 412 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991). An act should not be declared unconstitutional unless it is determined to be invalid beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>Todd v. State</u>, 643 So.2d 625, 627 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994).

Standard of Review

The constitutionality of a sentencing statute is reviewed *de novo*. <u>United States v. Rasco</u>, 123 F.3d 222, 226 (5th Cir. 1997)(reviewing the constitutionality of the federal three strikes statute by *de novo* review); <u>United States v. Quinn</u>, 123 F.3d 1415,

1425 (11th Cir. 1997); PHILIP J. PADOVANO, FLORIDA APPELLATE PRACTICE § 9.4 (2d ed. 1997).

Merits

The separation of powers provision of the Florida Constitution, Article II, § 3, provides:

Branches of Government.--The powers of the state government shall be divided into legislative, executive and judicial branches. No person belonging to one branch shall exercise any powers appertaining to either of the other branches unless expressly provided herein.

The legislature, not the judiciary, prescribes maximum and minimum penalties for violations of the law. State v. Benitez, 395 So.2d 514, 518 (Fla. 1981). The power to set penalties is the legislature's and it may remove all discretion from the trial courts. The Florida legislature passed the Prison Releasee Reoffender Act in 1997. CH 97-239, LAWS OF FLORIDA. The Act, codified as §775.082(8), Florida Statutes (1997), provides that a defendant who commits one of the enumerated felonies within three years of being released from state prison shall be sentenced to the statutory maximum. By enacting the prison releasee reoffender statute, the legislature has limited the trial court's authority to sentence individually. However, individualized sentencing is a relatively new phenomenon. Historically, most sentencing was mandatory and determinate.

This Court has previously addressed a similar statute and rejected a separation of powers challenge in that context. The most analogous statute to the reoffender statute is the trafficking

statute.¹ Florida already has a minimum mandatory sentencing statute that allows the prosecutor sole discretion to determine whether the minimum mandatory will be imposed. Florida's trafficking statute operates in a similar manner to the prison releasee reoffender statute. The trafficking statute allows the prosecutor to petition the sentencing court to not impose the minimum mandatory normally required under the trafficking statute for substantial assistance. Absent a request from the prosecutor, the trial court must impose the minimum mandatory sentence.

In <u>State v. Benitez</u>, 395 So. 2d 514 (Fla. 1981), this Court held that the trafficking statute did not violate the separation of powers provision. The Court first explained the operation of Florida's trafficking statute, § 893.135. The trafficking statute contains three main components: subsection (1) establishes "severe" mandatory minimum sentences for trafficking; subsection (2)

 $^{^{1}}$ The trafficking statute, § 893.135(4), Florida Statutes (1999), provides:

The state attorney may move the sentencing court to reduce or suspend the sentence of any person who is convicted of a violation of this section and who provides substantial assistance in the identification, arrest, or conviction of any of that person's accomplices, accessories, coconspirators, or principals or of any other person engaged in trafficking in controlled substances. The arresting agency shall be given an opportunity to be heard in aggravation or mitigation in reference to any such motion. Upon good cause shown, the motion may be filed and heard in camera. The judge hearing the motion may reduce or suspend the sentence if the judge finds that the defendant rendered such substantial assistance.

prevents the trial court from suspending or reducing the mandatory sentence and eliminates the defendant's eligibility for parole and subsection (3) permits the trial court to reduce or suspend the "severe" mandatory sentence for a defendant who cooperates with law enforcement in the detection or apprehension of others involved in drug trafficking based on the initiative of the prosecutor. Court characterized this subsection as an "escape valve" from the statute's rigors and explained that the "harsh mandatory penalties" of the statute could be ameliorated by the prospect of leniency. Benitez raised a separation of powers challenge arguing that the subsection allowing the prosecutor to make a motion for leniency usurps the sentencing function from the judiciary and assigns it to the executive branch because the leniency is triggered solely at the initiative of the prosecutor. This Court rejected the improper delegation claim reasoning that the ultimate decision on sentencing resides with the judge who must rule on the motion for reduction or suspension of sentence. This Court, quoting People v. Eason, 353 N.E.2d 587, 589 (N.Y. 1976), stated: "[s]o long as a statute does not wrest from courts the final discretion to impose sentence, it does not infringe the constitutional division upon responsibilities." The Benitez court stated that because the trial court retained the final discretion in sentencing the trafficking statute did not violate separation of powers.

Once the prosecutor moves for leniency, the trial court's traditional sentencing discretion is fully restored under the trafficking statute. Similarly, once the prosecutor moves for

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